IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-WC-01352-COA

ARMENIA FAIR, APPELLANT

VERSUS

BEAU RIVAGE RESORTS, INC. (Self-Insured)

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. A2402-2007-022

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ARMENIA FAIR

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

JAMES K. WETZEL, ESQUIRE (MS Bar No. JAMES K. WETZEL & ASSOCIATES 1701 24th Avenue Post Office Box I Gulfport, MS 39502 (228) 864-6400 (ofc); (228) 863-1793 (fax)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-2C-01352-C0A

ARMENIA FAIR

APPELLANT

VERSUS

BEAU RIVAGE RESORTS, INC. (Self-Insured)

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN AFFIRMING THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION REVERSING THE DECISION OF THEIR ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE DATED JUNE 8, 2006, AND ONLY ORDERING THAT THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER PAY TO CLAIMANT MEDICAL AND TEMPORARY DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR A PERIOD OF FEBRUARY 21, 2004 TO SEPTEMBER 1, 2004, AS RELATED TO CLAIMANT'S RIGHT SHOULDER INJURY.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S DECISION TO REVERSE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE AS SAME IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND TOTALLY DISREGARDED CERTAIN MEDICAL TESTIMONY SUPPORTING MEDICAL CAUSATION.

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal by Armenia Fair who filed a workers' compensation claim against her employer, Beau Rivage Resorts, Inc. For convenience hereinafter in this brief, the Appellant, Armenia Fair, will be referred to as Ms. Fair, and the Appellee, Beau Rivage Resorts, Inc., will be referred to as the Employer.

Ms. Fair is appealing a Circuit Court order dated July 16, 2008 (R.E.6) affirming a decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission dated December 20, 2006. (R.E.5). As can readily be ascertained from the Commission's decision, two Commissioners elected to reverse the administrative law judge's decision dated June 8, 2006, (R.E.4) and the third Commissioner, Schoby, dissented and held that he would affirm the opinion of the administrative law judge. The order of administrative law judge, Mark Henry, handed down on June 8, 2006, concluded, *inter alia*, as follows:

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

The Employer contends that the stipulated injury of February 21, 2004, was nothing more than a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition, that Ms. Fair's right shoulder has returned to its pre-injury condition, and that consequently Ms. Fair is entitled to neither shoulder surgery nor permanent disability benefits. On this point, it is clear that Ms. Fair experienced right shoulder pain before the injury. In fact, a pre-injury MRI performed on December 24, 2003, showed degenerative changes and a chronic rotator cuff tear. Also, Dr. Salloum stated on September 1, 2004, that Ms. Fair's pre- and post-injury symptoms were the same and that the pre- and post-injury MRI's showed the same condition.

On the other hand, Ms. Fair testified that her post-injury pain was new and different from any she had experienced previously. In addition, Dr. Motakhaveri agreed with Ms. Fair's assessment when he wrote on March 3, 2004, that Ms. Fair "clearly has significant change and pain today." Finally, with the advantage of having treated Ms. Fair for three more months after his September 1, 2004,

statement, Dr. Salloum apparently changed his mind when he opined on December 2, 2004, that Ms. Fair "has had a severe exacerbation of her pain and it is unrelenting." It is worth noting that before the injury Ms. Fair's shoulder pain had waxed and waned over time.

Considering all of the evidence, the Administrative Judge finds that the work-related injury of February 21, 2004, exacerbated Ms. Fair's pre-existing condition by increasing both the intensity and frequency of her right shoulder pain to such an extent that the injury cannot be regarded as merely a temporary aggravation. For that reason the Administrative Judge further finds that the surgery recommended by Dr. Salloum is reasonable and necessary treatment for Ms. Fair's work-related shoulder injury.

As to the issue of temporary disability, the Employer argues that it is not required to pay benefits for the period when Ms. Fair was temporarily disabled due to her cancer treatment. The Employer's assertion is correct only if the cancer treatment was the intervening and superseding cause of the temporary disability. In other words, although the cancer treatment was an intervening event, the real issue is whether the treatment superseded the shoulder injury in causing a period of temporary disability; and, the Employer bears the burden of persuasion on that point.

In this regard, Ms. Fair testified without contradiction that after the injury she could not perform her pre-injury job duties for the Employer and that the Employer had no light duty available for her. She added that she also did not work for some time because of her cancer treatment.

The record does not indicate that Ms. Fair's oncologist, Dr. Harris, ever explicitly took her off work, but based on common sense, it is obvious that Ms. Fair could not work for some period after her surgery while she was receiving chemotherapy. In addition, the record does not indicate when Dr. Harris allowed Ms. Fair to return to work. The record indicates only that Dr. Harris instructed Ms. Fair to avoid heavy lifting and that the Claimant began working at Wal-Mart on February 10, 2005.

Faced with the dearth of facts, the Administrative Judge cannot conclude that the Employer met its burden of proving that the cancer treatment was an intervening superseding cause so as to deny Ms. Fair temporary disability benefits for some indefinite period. At best, the Employer has proven that the cancer treatment was a concurrent cause along with the shoulder. For Ms. Fair to qualify for temporary benefits, the shoulder injury does not have to be the sole cause of her temporary disability. Instead, the shoulder has to be only an efficient cause, which it was.

Because Ms. Fair began working for Wal-Mart on February 9, 2005, the Administrative Judge finds that for each week from the stipulated date of injury,

February 21, 2004, until Ms. Fair reaches maximum medical improvement, the Claimant is entitled to receive temporary disability benefits of two-thirds of the difference between Ms. Fair's stipulated average weekly wage of \$364.47 and her earnings for that week. Of course, the Employer is entitled to credit for benefits previously paid.

Because Ms. Fair is not at maximum improvement, the issue of permanent disability is not ripe for decision at this time.

<u>Order</u>

It is, therefore, ordered and adjudged that the Employer shall pay workers' compensation benefits to the Claimant as follows:

- 1. Temporary disability benefits at the appropriate rate for each week, beginning on February 21, 2004, and continuing until the Claimant shall reach maximum medical improvement;
- 2. Penalties and interest on any due and unpaid workers' compensation benefits from the due date of each installment of such benefits.

It is further ordered and adjudged that the Employer shall provide reasonable and necessary medical supplies and services, including the surgery recommended by Dr. Salloum, as required by the nature of the Claimant's injury and the process of recovery therefrom, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 71-3-15 and the Medical Fee Schedule. (R.E.4).

The Employer filed an appeal from the administrative law judge's decision directly to the Workers' Compensation Commission. The thrust of the argument made by the Employer before the Full Commission was that the administrative law judge erred in awarding (1) disability and medical benefits for a disability caused by medical problems that were unrelated to the alleged industrial accident; and (2) that the award of temporary total disability since February 21, 2004, the date of the accident until the date of the workers' compensation hearing, was manifestly wrong and not supported by substantial evidence.

The Full Workers' Compensation Commission in reversing the administrative law judge which was affirmed by the Circuit Court held as follows:

By the clear and persuasive statements from Dr. Salloum, it is established that Ms. Fair's accident on February 21, 2004, was, at worst, a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing conditions and that by September 1, 2004, this accident had ceased to be disabling and Ms. Fair had returned to the same condition she was in prior to February 21, 2004. Dr. Salloum's notes also clearly established that Ms. Fair's need for shoulder surgery is not related to her February 21, 2004, accident but is instead attributable to pre-existing right shoulder problems dating back more than seven years prior.

Ms. Fair would submit to this Honorable Supreme Court that the Circuit Court and Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of law in disregarding the testimony produced by medical records of Dr. George Salloum and by failing to recognize his <u>later</u> report of December 2, 2004, wherein Dr. Salloum states that "Ms. Fair has had a 'severe exacerbation of pain and is <u>unrelenting'</u>." (R.E.10). It is this last report from Dr. Salloum, orthopedic surgeon, that the administrative law judge felt the February 21, 2004, work related injury exacerbated Ms. Fair's preexisting pathology in her shoulder by increasing both the intensity and frequency of her right shoulder pain to such an extent that the injury could not be regarded as merely a temporary aggravation.

Ms. Fair would also submit the Circuit Court and the Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of law in its failure to apply certain statutory principles in its decision making process when it reversed its administrative law judge as follows: (1) the workers' compensation law should be construed liberally in favor of the claimant in order to carry out the purpose of the remedial legislation; (2) that doubtful questions should be resolved in favor of the claimant; and (3)

the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission is not supported by substantial evidence (lay and medical) and the Workers' Compensation Commission did not require the Employer to provide the degree of proof to rebut the Claimant's *prima facie* case that her injury and resulting surgery was not causally related to her industrial accident.

FACTS OF THE CASE

At the time this matter was heard before the administrative law judge, Ms. Fair was sixty-seven (67) years old and had begun working for the Employer in 1999. At the time of her accident on the job on February 21, 2004, she was employed full-time in a Beau Rivage retail shop. Ms. Fair testified that she had problems with her right shoulder prior to her industrial accident at Beau Rivage. She testified that when she would try to raise her arm, it would pop and crack and she would go to Dr. Motakhaveri. He would give her a cortisone shot which made it feel better. According to the medical records of Dr. Reza Motakhaveri (R.E.8), Ms. Fair first saw Dr. Motakhaveri on January 17, 2000, and his records do not mention right shoulder pain until October 24, 2001. On that date Ms. Fair reported she had been experiencing pain in her right shoulder for a month. Noting that the pain was exacerbated by palpation and abduction, Dr. Motakhaveri concluded that Ms. Fair had "rotator cuff syndrome/tendonitis," which he treated with an injection that produced immediate improvement.

Dr. Motakhaveri's records do not mention shoulder pain again until December 20, 2002, although in the meantime, Ms. Fair had seen Dr. Motakhaveri five times. On December 20, 2002, Ms. Fair stated that she had right shoulder pain for three months. Dr. Motakhaveri noted pain during flexion and abduction and gave Ms. Fair an injection that again produced immediate improvement.

Ms. Fair next saw Dr. Motakhaveri on March 7, 2003, when she complained of right shoulder pain for two weeks. She added that she had had a fall and a motor vehicle accident years

ago. Dr. Motakhaveri noted pain on palpation and during most range of motion, and gave Ms. Fair another injection. An x-ray, however, on March 20, 2003, was normal.

On October 27, 2003, Ms. Fair complained about "persistent right shoulder pain." Suspecting a right rotator cuff tear, Dr. Motakhaveri referred her to Dr. George Salloum, orthopedic surgeon.

A review of an x-ray of February 22, 2004, was normal, and on March 3, 2004, Ms. Fair told Dr. Motakhaveri that she had not had any pain in her right shoulder for a long time until February 21, 2004, when she fell against a wall at the Beau Rivage and her right shoulder had been in significant pain since. Dr. Motakhaveri's records found that Ms. Fair "clearly has significant change and pain today," and he referred her again to Dr. Salloum. A MRI on March 8, 2004, following the accident of February 21, 2004, revealed "a full thickness tear of the supraspinatus portion of the rotator cuff tendon and relatively advanced degenerative disease in the AC joint."

Dr. George Salloum also testified by medical records (R.E.9). The administrative law judge reviewed the medical records and outlined the findings of Dr. Salloum as follows.

Dr. George Salloum, orthopedic surgeon, testified through his medical records that he saw Ms. Fair on December 17, 2003. Dr. Salloum ordered an MRI of her right shoulder. On December 24, 2003, the MRI technician noted that Ms. Fair had fallen seven years earlier and had experienced right should pain for six months. That day the MRI showed: "Severe acromiocalavicular joint degenerative change with pannus and spurring, chronic tear of the supraspinatus and atrophy of the infraspinatus tendons."

Dr. Salloum next saw Ms. Fair on April 6, 2004. During that visit she reported that she had fallen and injured her right shoulder at work in February 2004. After examining Ms. Fair and reviewing the MRI of March 8, 2004, Dr. Salloum recommended surgery, which was scheduled for May 5, 2004; however, that operation was postponed upon the advice of Ms. Fair's oncologist.

In response to a letter from the Employer's attorney, Dr. Salloum, on September 1, 2004, opined that Ms. Fair's complaints of December 17, 2003, were the same as her complaints of April 6, 2004; that his findings of December 17, 2003, were the same as his findings of April 6, 2004; that the injury of February 21, 2004, had caused only a temporary and now resolved aggravation of her chronic pre-existing condition; and, that the type of surgery he had recommended on December 17, 2003, was the same he recommended on April 6, 2004.

Then three months later on December 2, 2004, Dr. Salloum wrote:

"Ms. Aremenia Fair has a right shoulder rotator cuff tear. I had originally seen her in December 2003. She had a relief of her symptoms with a cortisone injection. Subsequently she had a work related injury and she has had a severe exacerbation of her pain and it has been unrelenting. I feel that she would benefit from a shoulder arthroscopy with a subacromial decompression, distal clavicle resection, and rotator cuff debridement vs. repair if possible. (R.E.10). We would like to do this when she is cleared for surgery by her oncologist."

Dr. William Harris, oncologist, also testified through his records (R.E.11) and the administrative law judge reviewed and outlined his records as follows: After a mammogram on December 15, 2003, and an ultrasound on December 22, 2003, revealed a suspicious module in Ms. Fair's right breast, a biopsy on January 12, 2004, indicated cancer. On February 16, 2004, Dr. Harris examined Ms. Fair and recommended radiotherapy or surgery.

Ms. Fair chose surgery, which was performed on March 11, 2004. A period of chemotherapy followed, and Ms. Fair saw Dr. Harris for the recorded last time on June 14, 2005.

Ms. Fair testified as the only live witness at the workers' compensation hearing. Ms. Fair testified as follows:

BY MR. WETZEL:

- Q. When you saw Dr. Salloum on <u>December the 20th, 2003</u>, did he make any recommendations at that time in terms of treatment or how what he would recommend?
- A. Only thing that he told me that he could go in my shoulder, clean out the arthritis and that was it. That's all he said.
 - Q. Did he set you up for surgery or anything?
- A. He set me up for the surgery, but I had to call and tell him that I couldn't have the surgery done because I had to have the cancer removed, and later on, you, I would have the surgery.
 - Q. Okay. What happened on February the 21st 2004, you had went back to work?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. How long had you been back to work prior to this incident on the job? Did you miss any work during your cancer treatment?
 - A. No. This happened after I had went back to work.
- Q. Okay. I understand. What I'm trying to find out, between December 20^{th} when you first saw Dr. Burwell –

BY ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE HENRY: Dr. Salloum.

BY MR. WETZEL: I apologize.

BY ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE HENRY: If you say Burwell in the future, we're still talking about Salloum, right?

BY MR. WETZEL: That's right. (Continuing)

Q. From the first time you saw Dr. Salloum on December 20th until the date of your accident on February 21st, '04, did you miss any time from work due to your –

- A. No.
- Q. So you had your cancer treatment and continued to work?
- A. Yes.
- Q. How was your shoulder between the first time you saw Dr. Salloum up until the date of your accident on February 21st?
- At My shoulder was still bothering me. If I raised my arm or try to run the sweeper or comb my hair or anything like that, my should would bother me.
 - Q. Tell me how it would bother you.
 - A. What?
 - Q. How would it bother you?
 - A. It would hurt.
 - Q. Just dull ache?
- A. Just a dull ache. I can be sitting up some times and it would just start hurting. It would wake me up at night, you know, hurting?
 - Q. Were you still able to do your job though?
- A. Yeah, because I wasn't doing anything that was really pulling or pushing or raising my arms or anything like that.
 - Q. Okay. Now what happened on February 21st?
- A. I came into work around 3:20, okay. We have to go down the hallway, the satellite way, and pick up our money to take to work, okay. What they done, they had changed our money. We had two bags, one was \$600.00 the other one was for \$200.00.
 - Q. All change?
 - A. Yes well, it was some dollars but mostly change.
 - Q. How much did the bags weigh, just best estimate?
 - A. Probably about 10, 15 pounds.

- Q. Each bag?
- A. No, just together -
- Q. Okay.

A. – you know, okay. Because the one bag had \$50.00 in quarters and so many rolls of dimes, so many rolls of nickels and just a few dollars. I think it was about \$50.00 in bills.

- Q. You have a bag in each hand?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Okay.
- A. The other bag had the \$600.00 in it. It was, like \$400.00 in dollar bills, you know, currency and the rest of it in change, okay. So we had to carry these plastic bags and I had to put the \$200.00 in my purse and the other one, I was carrying in my hand. So walking, we come down this long hallway, go down through double doors, walk down this hallway to get to work, okay. So on the way to work, I don't know what kind of floor they have there at the Beau Rivage, the tile or whatever, but everybody stumbles on this floor. It, like it catches your shoes or whatever, okay. I stumbled and in order to catch my balance, I fell up against the wall. So when I fell up against the wall, I felt the pain go through my shoulder and all the way down to my wrist.
 - Q. What part of your body impacted the wall?
 - A. The whole side, my right side fell up against the wall.
 - Q. Were you able to catch yourself on an out stretched right hand or just because -
 - A. I did just because I had the money in this hand -
 - Q. When you say, "this hand", you have to tell me right or left because -
 - A. Right.
- Q. Listen. Let me finish my questions. Let me get my questions out first. Explain for the Judge, again, what you had in your right hand at the time the fall occurred?
 - A. Well, the \$600.00 bag of money.
 - Q. How much, approximately, did it weigh?

A. It probably weighed about seven pounds.
Q. Okay. In your left hand was your purse?
A. Yes, on my left shoulder.
Q. So your left hand was free. There wasn't actually nothing in your left hand?
A. No.
Q. And you're going down the hall and the wall is to your immediate right side?
A. Yes.
Q. You're on the right side of the hallway?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you trip or slip?
A. I, like, tripped.
Q. Okay. Take me through the motions of what occurred with your body at that point. Did you fall into the wall? Did you fall up against the wall? Explain to us exactly what happened.
A. I fell up against the wall.
Q. How would you describe the impact of your body with the wall?
A. Very hard.
Q. Did you strike your head?
A. No.
Q. You struck your, you said, the right side of your body?
A. Yes.
Q. Did you body go to the floor after you hit the wall?
A. No.
Q. You were able to get your composure?

A. Yes. O. So you didn't fall on any out reached hands or out stretched hands to the floor? A. No. Q. Take me through after you fell against the wall, after you got your composure, what happened at that point? A. I went on down to work. And from my shoulder to my wrist - my right shoulder to my wrist was hurting. When I got down to work, I told the assistant manager what had happened. She had one of the other assistant managers take me back upstairs to the security part, okay. They - I told them what had happened. They took down all the information and then they sent me over to the Biloxi Regional Hospital. O. Did the nurse treat you at all or anybody at the Beau Rivage? A. No. The only thing when I come back from the hospital, they gave me a drug test. O. I didn't ask you after you came back from the hospital, I'm asking before you went to the hospital? A. No. No. No. Q. Did you go back to work at all or did they immediately send you to the emergency room? A. They immediately sent me to the emergency room. O. If I understand, the emergency room is one block north of Beau Rivage? A. Yes. O. How did you get over there?

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