## NO. 2008-WC-01352-COA

ARMENIA FAIR

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

BEAU RIVAGE RESORTS, INC. (SELF INSURED)

APPELLEE

## APPEAL FROM THE

CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/EMPLOYER AND CARRIER, BEAU RIVAGE RESORTS, INC. (SELF INSURED)

# ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

TRISTAN R. ARMER, ESQ. HARRY J. SCHMIDT, III (HEIDELBERG, STEINBERGER COLMER & BURROW, P.A.

711 Delmas Avenue Post Office Box 1407 Pascagoula, Mississippi 39568-1407

Telephone No.: (228) 762-8021 Facsimile No.: (228) 762-7589

Attorneys for Beau Rivage Resorts, Inc. (Self Insured)

## NO. 2008-WC-01352-COA

ARMENIA FAIR

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

BEAU RIVAGE RESORTS, INC. (SELF INSURED)

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

The facts of this case clearly establish that Ms. Fair had a pre-existing injury to her shoulder. Truly, no real dispute exists that Ms. Fair had a pre-existing rotator cuff tear. The real issue and question of fact was whether the previously torn rotator-cuff was temporarily

aggravated by stumbling into a wall at work. At a minimum, the medical evidence shows that the effects of this pre-existing injury waxed and waned over a seven (7) year period of time. The substantial medical evidence also shows that the injury had "lighted up" by at least October of 2003, well before her accident on February 21, 2004. Further, whether she had a "disability" related to the workplace injury, and whether the "disability" ended on or before September 1, 2004, are both questions of fact. Ms. Fair bore the burden of proof on these issues. From a factual standpoint, the Commission found that she did not meet her burden of proof that bumping into a wall on February 21, 2004 caused a permanent injury or any injury beyond a temporary aggravation.

Even Ms. Fair's own testimony created questions of fact for the Commission to resolve. Ms. Fair offered inconsistent and conflicting descriptions of her condition throughout, but her physician's diagnoses remained constant. As outlined previously, Ms. Fair reported pain in her shoulder at office visits to Dr. Motakhaveri on October 24, 2001, December 20, 2002, March 7, 2003, and October 27, 2003. However, in December 17, 2003, she stated that she had fallen and injured her rotator cuff in 1996, but it had healed and had not bothered her until approximately August of 2003. Further conflicting evidence is that after her workplace accident, and at her March 3, 2004, visit to Dr. Motakhaveri, Ms. Fair reported that she had not had any pain in her shoulder for a long time. Therefore, there was a question of fact as to the effect of the bumping incident on her torn rotator-cuff as felt by Ms. Fair.

Further, Ms. Fair's testimony at trial that the "pain was different" is not conclusive.

During the hearing she testified as follows:

- Q. Could you just generally tell the Judge what kind of problems you had, what kind of treatment you had and just fill us in exactly what was going on up to December of '03 with that shoulder?
- A. Well, when I would raise my arm, it would like, pop crack and you—and I went to Dr. Motakhaveri and he gave me a Cortizone shot and that made it feel better.

(R.E. 1, C.R. at 18-20.) Yet, after seeing Dr. Motakhaveri about her shoulder in October of 2003, Dr. Motakhaveri no longer felt that administering Cortizone shots were an effective treatment - he referred Ms. Fair to Dr. Salloum, an orthopaedic specialist. Ms. Fair told Dr. Salloum that the Cortizone shots were not effective. (R.E. 3, C.R. at 166.) After the initial visit, Dr. Salloum recommend surgery - not additional Cortizone shots.

This change in the course of her medical care regarding her shoulder all occurred in the two (2) months <u>prior</u> to the workplace accident. Therefore, Ms. Fair's argument that the pain was different after her injury is belied by the fact that <u>beginning in October of 2004 her pain was different</u>. She told Dr. Salloum that Cortizone shots no longer could control her shoulder pain. On December 13, 2003, for the first time ever, she was told by a doctor that she needed surgical intervention to relieve her shoulder pain. The escalation in her pain had already occurred <u>prior</u> to February 21, 2004, the date of her workplace accident. The surgery, and the subsequent relief from shoulder pain, did not occur due to Ms. Fair's diagnosis of cancer.

## Ms Fair also testified:

- Q. How was your shoulder between the first time you saw Dr. Salloum up until the date of your accident on February 21<sup>st</sup>?
- A. My shoulder was still bothering me. If I raised my arm or try to run the sweeper or comb my hair or anything like that, my shoulder would bother me.

(C.R. at 21.)

Ms. Fair, when asked again, if the pre-injury pain was different from the post-injury pain, she testified:

A. Well, for one thing, like I said, the pain, it was most like when I move my arm, I would just feel like a crack, you know. Okay. This pain was different. It would just ache all the time. I couldn't raise my arm. I couldn't push on anything. I couldn't pull on anything.

Her testimony is again belied by the same medical records that Ms. Fair alleges the Commission ignored in reaching its decision. On December 13, 2003, Ms. Fair clearly told Dr. Salloum that the shoulder had a "constant aching pain." (R.E. 3, C.R. at 166.)

Finally, both the pre-injury and post-injury MRI films of Ms. Fair's shoulder are identical. There simply is no biological or objective change in her condition demonstrated on the MRI films. Her physicians' descriptions of her injuries remained more consistent. For several years before the accident the records show that Ms. Fair received temporary relief from Cortizone injections, but ultimately her pain would return. Dr. Motakhaveri, after stating his belief that Ms. Fair suffered from a torn rotator cuff, referred her to Dr. Salloum. The Cortizone treatment was apparently no longer effective at controlling her pain. At her office visits with Dr. Salloum, Ms. Fair stated that she was unable to lift her shoulder and lift objects and she had pain when driving, holding her arms out in front of her, and difficulty sleeping at night, and reported her pain as an 8 on a scale of 1 to 10. Ultimately surgery was planned but did not occur in light of her cancer treatment. Dr. Salloum recommend surgical intervention to treat the injury.

Compared to her pre-accident condition, Ms. Fair's workplace injury was described by Dr. Salloum as "very similar in nature with similar findings." The MRI taken just after the second injury was described as chronic, not acute, shoulder injures, and second MRI was

described in similar fashion. There can be no doubt from the record that Ms. Fair's injury is an exacerbation of the pre-existing injury. But again, questions of fact existed as to whether the tear was really aggravated by the workplace accident, for how long this aggravation lasted and whether the aggravation produced a period of disability.

Ms. Fair's extended absence from work was not caused by her shoulder, but by her cancer treatment. Wholly absent from the record is any doctor's testimony or record that Ms. Fair should remain off from work or on a limited duty because of her shoulder injury. Instead, according to a report of oncologist Dr. Harris, Ms. Fair made the decision on February 16, 2004, to have her cancer-related surgery. (R.E. 5, C.R. at 326.) This was five (5) days prior to the workplace injury. Ms. Fair underwent surgery on March 11, 2004, followed by chemotherapy treatment for several months. Therefore, a question of fact as to the cause of Ms. Fair's disability existed.

"Disability" is Ms. Fair's inability to earn wages in the same of similar, pre-injury employment. The medical opinion of Dr. Salloum was that Ms. Fair was able to return to work on April 28, 2004, with her same pre-incident status by June 1, 2004. (R.E. 3, C.R. at 157;160.) Therefore, substantial evidence exists that Ms. Fair's disability, if any at all, ended on or about April 28, 2004. Despite her ability to return to work for her shoulder injury, Ms. Fair did not return to the workforce until February 10, 2005. She began working as a part-time greeter at Wal-Mart. Ultimately, however she returned to full-time work at Wal-Mart in a sales position with similar requirements as to her previous position with the Employer.

Ms. Fair did attempt to return to Employer after her accident. She applied for leave from work due to her cancer. She applied for and received short term disability payments

as a consequence of her cancer. Dr. Salloum's records returned her to light duty on April 28, 2004. Ms. Fair testified that he job was light duty and did not involve pushing or pulling.

Therefore, there is a lot of conflicting evidence that her disability, if any, was caused by a work accident. There is substantial evidence that Ms. Fair could have returned to her pre-injury employment on or after April 28, 2004. But at a minimum, the resolution of the issue of whether the work accident produced an aggravation that resulted in a disability and for how long the disability lasted are both questions of fact to be resolved by the Commission.

Ms. Fair emphasizes that in his December 2, 2004 letter, Dr. Salloum changed his opinion that her injury was a temporary aggravation. (R.E. 3, C.R. at 154). However, Dr. Salloum did not state such in his letter. At best, he stated her pain was "unrelenting". (Id.) Even if Dr. Salloum changed his opinion, as argued by Ms. Fair, this change is of no real import because it merely creates conflicting medical evidence, and which conflicting evidence is chosen as credible remains the sole province of the Commission. *See Hardaway v. Bradley*, 876 So. 2d 793 (Miss. 2004). Moreover, simply because there is a conflict of medical opinion the Commission is not bound to automatically accept Ms. Fair's version because she gets the "benefit of any doubt." *Id.* 

After weighing the entire record, including Ms. Fair's often inconsistent testimony, the MRI results that were identical pre-injury as post, the absolute lack of a succinct doctor's opinion stating any definite period of disability, Dr. Salloum's succinct answers concerning her condition, and Ms. Fair's return to gainful employment at WalMart after resolving her

cancer issues, the Commission found that the aggravation of her pre-existing injury was only temporary. This was clearly a question of fact resolved by the Commission.

Therefore, it is clear from a review of the record that the issue upon which Ms. Fair bases her appeal is a factual one. While Ms. Fair's appeal is characterized in terms of whether the Commission failed to consider certain evidence, the real issue is that the Commission did not accept Ms. Fair's view of the factual evidence.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission's decision to find Ms. Fair suffered a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing condition is supported by substantial evidence and her benefits were properly limited to the period of the temporary aggravation.

Ms. Fair argues to this Court that the Commission "erred as a matter of law in disregarding the...records...of Dr. George Salloum." (Fair Brief at 5.) This statement essentially summarizes the entire point of Ms. Fair's appeal, and it lands wide of the mark. In essence, Ms. Fair's argument is that because she stated at trial that the pain was different from before and because one line of a medical record states her pain was "unrelenting", then the Commission had no choice but to disregard all other credible, contrary evidence and ultimately find in her favor. This position is not legally accurate because the Commission may reasonably outweigh evidence favorable to Ms. Fair's claim with other credible evidence not favorable to Ms. Fair. Giving Ms. Fair the benefit of the doubt in disputed cases does not require the Commission to turn a blind eye towards overwhelming, conflicting evidence not in Ms. Fair's favor.

Moreover, the Commission did not disregard Dr. Salloum's medical records.

Instead, the Commission weighed <u>all</u> the evidence contained in Dr. Salloum's records and then issued its decision. Ms. Fair's appeal and position does not consider the evidence fully supporting the decision of the Commission. That evidence includes a medical record by Dr. Salloum that <u>succinctly</u> states the following:

 The surgery needed to address her post-injury condition is <u>identical</u> to the surgery Dr. Salloum recommended to address her pre-injury condition;

- Ms. Fair's <u>complaints</u> to Dr. Salloum on April 6, 2004 were identical to her complaints on December 13, 2003;
- 3. Ms. Fair indicated the need for work restrictions on December 13, 2003;
- 4. Ms. Fair's pre-injury condition was chronic, which meant it was likely to occur again without any new or subsequent injury;
- 5. To a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Dr. Salloum could not state that on-the-job injury was anything more than a temporary aggravation;
- 6. Ms. Fair had returned to her pre-injury condition as of June 1, 2004;
- No objective evidence exists to demonstrate within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Ms. Fair had not returned to her pre-injury condition;

(R.E. 3, C.R. at 159-160.) The Employer, by producing the succinct opinion of Dr. Salloum, produced substantial evidence that Ms. Fair's condition was a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing condition. Additionally, by producing Dr. Salloum's opinion that Ms. Fair may return to her employment, the Employer produced substantial evidence that she no longer suffered a disability. In fact, this medical evidence is the only medical opinion of Ms. Fair's condition in the record that was stated "within a reasonable degree of medical probability."

Ms. Fair treats the term *unrelenting pain* in Dr. Salloum's December 2, 2004 note as if it were a finding of a new condition or state of her injury. But "unrelenting pain" on December 2, 2004 is no different than the "constant aching pain" Ms. Fair had on December 13, 2003. Thus, the Commission, after reviewing all of the evidence in this

cause, concluded that Ms. Fair did not suffer any injury beyond a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing condition.

It strains reason to conclude that a single word, "unrelenting", contained in a December 2, 2004, letter from Dr. Salloum would outweigh the specific medical findings Dr. Salloum recited in his June 1, 2004, record. It strains reason to view the term "unrelenting pain" in Dr. Salloum's December 2, 2004, note any different than the "constant aching pain" Ms. Fair had on December 13, 2003 - prior to her workplace injury.

Ms. Fair was unable to produce any objective medical evidence or medical opinion that her physical condition changed after February 21, 2004. Additionally, Ms. Fair was also unable to produce any evidence that her physical limitations changed after February 21, 2004.

Most important of all, however, is that the Commission based its findings of fact and order upon clearly stated medical opinions finding no change in her physical condition and limitations. Dr. Salloum's opinion, Dr. Motakseveri's records and the MRI films are all substantial evidence supporting the Commission's decision. Once the Commission makes a decision based upon substantial evidence, the decision cannot be overturned by an appellate court.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has firmly held that,

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies. Our courts are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. . . When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required

of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency.

Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969). Agency's rulings are to be affirmed unless it is shown that the decision is 1) not supported by substantial evidence, 2) the decision is arbitrary or capricious, 3) the decision is beyond the scope or power of the agency, or 4) it violates a party's constitutional rights. Sprouse v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Com'n, 639 So. 2d 901, 902 (Miss. 1994). Ms. Fair does not allege the latter three points, but merely alleges that the Commission's decision was not based upon substantial evidence.

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